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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

(In $000s, except share, per share, and liquidation preference amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment (net)
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017; 335,273
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017. Aggregate preference in liquidation of
$4,006,512 at December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017.

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017;
4,256,829 and 4,439,947 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017 respectively.

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, June 30,
2016 2017
(Unaudited)
$ 16,520 $ 13,591
3,097 2,460
19,617 16,051
45 32
$ 19,662 $ 16,083
$ 2,497 $ 2,038
2,762 2,281
5,259 4,319
130 128
5,389 4,447
4 4
350,051 351,148
(743) (736)
(335,039) (338,780)
14,273 11,636
$ 19,662 $ 16,083
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In $000s, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Six months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2016 2017 2016 2017
Revenues:
Grant revenue $ 222 % -3 361 $ -
Operating expenses:
Research and development 2,637 1,222 5,136 2,534
General and administrative 1,345 1,267 2,729 2,648
Total operating expenses 3,982 2,489 7,865 5,182
Operating loss (3,760) (2,489) (7,504) (5,182)
Other income (expense):
Foreign exchange gains (losses) 138 16 318 43)
Interest income 13 18 23 30
Other income, net 18 - 38 879
Total other income (expense) 169 34 379 866
Loss before taxes (3,591) (2,455) (7,125) (4,316)
Income tax benefit 626 268 1,119 574
Net loss (2,965) (2,187) (6,006) (3,742)
Dividend on convertible exchangeable preferred shares (50) (50) (100) (100)
Net loss applicable to common shareholders $ (3,015) $ (2,237) $ (6,106) $ (3,842)
Basic and diluted earnings per common share:
Net loss per share — basic and diluted $ (1.01) $ 0.50) $ (2.05) $ (0.88)
Weighted average common shares outstanding 3,000,192 4,434,441 2,982,508 4,353,333

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In $000s)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Six months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2016 2017 2016 2017
Net loss $ (2,965) $ (2,187) $ (6,006) $ (3,742)
Translation adjustment (10,620) (6,613) (15,047) (8,553)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on intercompany loans 10,545 6,626 14,906 8,561
Comprehensive loss $ (3,04()) $ (2,174) $ (5,147) $ (3,734)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In $000s)
(Unaudited)

Six months Ended
June 30,
2016 2017

Operating activities:
Net loss $ (6,006) $ (3,742)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 75 17
Stock-based compensation 420 135
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,012 746
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 316 (1,167)
Net cash used in operating activities (4,183) (4,011)
Investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment — 2)
Net cash used in investing activities — 2
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 154 1,063
Payment of preferred stock dividend (100) (101)
Net cash provided by financing activities 54 962
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (380) 122
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,509) (2,929)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 20,440 16,520
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 15931 $ 13,591
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash received during the period for:

Interest 21 30

Taxes 1,965 1,815
Non cash financing activities:
Accrual of preferred stock dividends 50 50

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Company Overview
Nature of Operations

Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Cyclacel” or “the Company”), is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company using cell cycle control,
transcriptional regulation and DNA damage response biology to develop innovative, targeted medicines for cancer and other proliferative diseases. Cyclacel
is a pioneer company in the field of cell cycle biology with a vision to improve patient healthcare by translating cancer biology into medicines.

As of June 30, 2017, substantially all efforts of the Company to date have been devoted to performing research and development, conducting clinical
trials, developing and acquiring intellectual property, raising capital and recruiting and training personnel.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2017, the consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss and cash flows, and all related
disclosures contained in the accompanying notes, are unaudited. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 is derived from the audited
consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The consolidated financial statements are presented on the basis of accounting principles that are generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. Accordingly, they do not include all
the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for a complete set of financial statements. In the
opinion of management, all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the consolidated balance sheet as of
June 30, 2017, the results of operations and comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, and cash flows for the six months ended
June 30, 2017, have been made. The interim results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be
expected for the year ending December 31, 2017 or for any other year. The consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2016 that are included in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Critical estimates include inputs used to determine clinical trial accruals, research and
development expenditures, stock-based compensation expense and the recognition of revenue, each of which Cyclacel reviews on an ongoing basis. The
estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties

Drug candidates developed by the Company typically will require approvals or clearances from the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”),
European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) or other international regulatory agencies prior to commercial sales. There can be no assurance that the Company’s
drug candidates will receive any of the required approvals or clearances. If the Company was denied approval or clearance or such approval was delayed, or is
unable to obtain the necessary financing to complete development and approval, there will be a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition
and results of operations. The Company has relied upon government grants to fund its earlier stage programs and does not expect to be able to continue to be
successful in obtaining government grants to fund the Company’s research and development activities.
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Going Concern

Management considers that there are no conditions or events, in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least one year from the date the financial statements are issued. The Company expects that its cash of $13.6 million as of June
30, 2017, together with approximately $13.8 million net proceeds received from the sale of securities in July 2017, will be sufficient to fund its operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirements through to the end of 2019.

This evaluation is based on relevant conditions and events that are known and reasonably knowable at the date that the financial statements are
issued, including:

a. The Company’s current financial condition, including its liquidity sources;
The Company’s conditional and unconditional obligations due or anticipated within one year;

c.  The funds necessary to maintain the Company’s operations considering its current financial condition, obligations, and other expected cash flows;
and

d. Other conditions and events, when considered in conjunction with the above that may adversely affect the Company’s ability to meet its obligations.

The viability of the Company beyond the end of 2019 is dependent on its ability to raise additional capital to finance its operations. The Company
will need to raise substantial additional capital to pursue the transcriptional regulation program evaluating CYCO065, a CDK inhibitor, in patients with
advanced cancers or the DNA damage response program evaluating a sequential regimen of sapacitabine and CDK inhibitors, in patients with BRCA positive,
advanced solid cancers. Additional funding may not be available to the Company on favorable terms, or at all. If the Company is unable to obtain additional
funds, it will need to reduce operating expenses, enter into a collaboration or other similar arrangement with respect to development and/or commercialization
rights to its CDK inhibitors or sapacitabine, if available, or be forced to delay or reduce the scope of its CDK inhibitors and sapacitabine development
programs, including any potential regulatory filings related to the SEAMLESS study, and/or limit or cease its operations. The Company’s inability to raise
capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on its financial condition and ability to pursue its business strategies.

Segments

The Company is managed and operated as one business which is focused on using cell cycle, transcriptional regulation, and DNA damage response
biology to develop innovative, targeted medicines for cancer and other proliferative diseases .The entire business is managed by a single management team
that reports to the Chief Executive Officer. The Company does not operate separate lines of business with respect to any of its products or product candidates
and the Company does not prepare discrete financial information with respect to separate products or product candidates or by location. Accordingly, the
Company views its business as one reportable operating segment with development operations in two geographic areas, namely the United States and the
United Kingdom.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less at the time of initial purchase to be cash
equivalents. The objectives of the Company’s cash management policy are to safeguard and preserve funds, to maintain liquidity sufficient to meet Cyclacel’s
cash flow requirements and to attain a market rate of return.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance at June 30, 2017 was $13.6 million and it maintains its cash accounts in several entities both
within the United States and the United Kingdom. The total cash balances for amounts held in the United States are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) in amounts up to $250,000 per account. The Company has cash balances exceeding the balance insured by the FDIC that totalled
approximately $11.2 million at June 30, 2017. The total cash balances for amounts held in the United Kingdom are insured by the UK Government Financial
Services Compensation Scheme (“FSCS”) in amounts up to £75,000 per account. The Company has cash balances exceeding the balance insured by the FSCS
that totalled approximately $2.0 million at June 30, 2017.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the nature of the accounts, notably their short maturities.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)

All components of comprehensive income (loss), including net income (loss), are reported in the financial statements in the period in which they are
recognized. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-
owner sources. Net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss), including foreign currency translation adjustments, are reported, net of any related
tax effect, to arrive at comprehensive income (loss). No taxes were recorded on items of other comprehensive income (loss). There were no reclassifications
out of other comprehensive income (loss) during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-11, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down
Round Features (“ASU 2017-11), which simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with down-round features. ASU 2017-11 is effective for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim
period. ASU 2017-11 should be adopted retrospectively for each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively as of the beginning of the year of
adoption. The Company anticipates this standard will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfer of Assets Other than Inventory (‘““ASU 2016-
16”"), which requires the recognition of the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. The
standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company anticipates this
standard will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (“ASU
2016-15”), to address diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The
standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company anticipates this
standard will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance on accounting for leases in ASU No, 2016-02. The guidance requires that lessees recognize a lease
liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and a right-of-use asset, which is an asset
that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term at the commencement date. The guidance is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. Early application is permitted. The guidance must be adopted on a modified retrospective transition approach
for leases existing, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of the guidance on the consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (‘““ASU 2014-09""), which supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance. The standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard
defines a five-step process to achieve this principle; (1) identify the contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3)
determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when, or as, the
Company satisfies a performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows arising from customer contracts. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and for interim periods
within those fiscal years. ASU 2014-09 was amended by multiple accounting standards updates from 2014-2016.

The Company anticipates this standard will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. While the Company is continuing to
assess all potential impacts of the standard, the Company currently believes the most significant impact relates to its accounting for revenues related to grants
received from government agencies or nonprofit organizations and revenues from contingent “milestone” based payments. Under the new standard the
Company expects to report grant revenue, if new grants are obtained, in other income or as a contra-expense. Historically grants have been reported in
revenue, but as the grantor is not likely to be receiving a good or service in exchange for the payment, the grant cannot be reported in revenue under ASU
2014-09. The Company also expects to recognize revenue associated with contingent milestone-based payments at the time the contingent event is highly
probable to be met, rather than when the milestone is achieved. However, given the limited number of potential milestones owed to Cyclacel, and the inherent
risk involved in developing drugs, the milestones are unlikely to be impacted. The guidance permits two methods of adoption: retrospectively to each prior
reporting period presented (full retrospective method), or retrospectively with the camulative effect of initially applying the guidance recognized at the date of
initial application (the modified retrospective method). The Company currently intends to use the modified retrospective method when it adopts the new
accounting standard.
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3. Net Loss Per Common Share

The Company calculates net loss per common share in accordance with ASC 260 “Earnings Per Share” (“ASC 260”). Basic and diluted net loss per
common share was determined by dividing net loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period.

The following potentially dilutive shares of common stock have not been included in the computation of diluted net loss per share for the six months
ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, as the result would be anti-dilutive:

June 30, June 30,
2016 2017
Stock options 393,723 382,850
Convertible preferred stock 1,698 1,698
Common stock warrants 45,343 -
Total shares excluded from calculation 440,764 384,548
4. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in $000s):
December 31, June 30,
2016 2017
Research and development tax credit receivable $ 1,730 $ 603
Prepayments 867 1,080
Accounts receivable 10 89
VAT receivable 327 356
Deposits 132 132
Other current assets 31 200
$ 3,097 $ 2,460
5. Accrued and Other Liabilities
Accrued and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in $000s):
December 31, June 30,
2016 2017
Accrued research and development $ 2,138 $ 1,846
Accrued legal and professional fees 194 253
Other current liabilities 430 182
$ 2,762 $ 2,281

6. Stock Based Compensation
ASC 718 requires compensation expense associated with share-based awards to be recognized over the requisite service period, which for the

Company is the period between the grant date and the date the award vests or becomes exercisable. Most of the awards granted by the Company (and still
outstanding) vest ratably over one to four years and have a maximum life of ten years from the date of grant.

10
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The Company recognizes all share-based awards under the straight-line attribution method, assuming that all granted awards will vest. Forfeitures
will be recognized in the periods when they occur. The actual expense recognized over the vesting period is based on only those shares that vest.

Stock based compensation has been reported within expense line items on the consolidated statement of operations for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 as shown in the following table (in $000s):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2016 2017 2016 2017
General and administrative $ 120 $ 49 $ 262 $ 99
Research and development 79 17 158 36
Stock-based compensation costs before income taxes $ 199 $ 66 $ 420 $ 135

On May 22, 2015, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), under which Cyclacel may make equity
incentive grants to its officers, employees, directors and consultants. The 2015 Plan replaces the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan. On May 30, 2017 the
Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2015 Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock available for grant under the 2015 Plan
by adding 600,000 shares. As of June 30, 2017, there were 611,500 awards available for issuance under the 2015 Plan.

There were 12,000 options granted during the six months ended June 30, 2017.

In 2016, the Company granted options that are performance based. As of June 30, 2017, 184,924 of these options remain outstanding. These options
will vest upon the fulfillment of certain clinical conditions and will terminate if they have not vested by December 31, 2020. The Company determined that
the satisfaction of the vesting criteria was not probable as of June 30, 2017 and, as a result, did not record any expense related to these awards for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2017.

There were no stock options exercised during the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively. The Company does not expect to be able
to benefit from the deduction for stock option exercises that may occur during the year ended December 31, 2017 because the company has tax loss
carryforwards from prior periods that would be expected to offset any potential taxable income for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Outstanding Options

A summary of the share option activity and related information is as follows:

Weighted
‘Weighted Average
Number of Average Remaining Aggregate
Options Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Outstanding Price Per Share Term (Years) Value ($000)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2016 389,379 $ 25.80 583 % 121
Granted 12,000 $ 4.38
Cancelled/forfeited (18,529) $ 89.95
Options outstanding at June 30, 2017 382,850 $ 22.02 548 $ —
Unvested at June 30, 2017 (245,915) $ 5.15 479 $ =
Vested and exercisable at June 30, 2017 136,935 $ 52.32 6.70 $ —

The fair value of the stock options granted is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as prescribed by ASC 718.

The expected term assumption is estimated using past history of early exercise behavior and expectations about future behaviors.

11
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The weighted average risk-free interest rate represents interest rate for treasury constant maturities published by the Federal Reserve Board. If the
term of available treasury constant maturity instruments is not equal to the expected term of an employee option, Cyclacel uses the weighted average of the
two Federal Reserve securities closest to the expected term of the employee option.

Volatility is based on the Company’s historical volatility over the same period as the expected term for a given award.
7. Commitments and Contingencies
Distribution, Licensing and Research Agreements

The Company has entered into licensing agreements with academic and research organizations. Under the terms of these agreements, the Company
has received licenses to technology and patent applications. The Company is required to pay royalties on future sales of products employing the technology or
falling under claims of patent applications.

Pursuant to the Daiichi Sankyo license under which the Company licenses certain patent rights for sapacitabine, its lead drug candidate, the
Company has agreed to pay Daiichi Sankyo an up-front fee, to reimburse Daiichi Sankyo for enumerated expenses, and to make milestone payments and to
pay royalties on a country-by-country basis. The up-front fee, Phase 3 entry milestone, and certain past reimbursements have been paid. A further $10.0
million in aggregate milestone payments could be payable subject to achievement of all the specific contractual milestones, which are primarily related to
regulatory approval in various territories and the Company’s decision to continue with these projects. Royalties are payable in each country for the term of
patent protection in the country or for ten years following the first commercial sale of licensed products in the country, whichever is later. Royalties are
payable on net sales. Net sales are defined as the gross amount invoiced by the Company or its affiliates or licensees, less discounts, credits, taxes, shipping
and bad debt losses. The agreement extends from its commencement date to the date on which no further amounts are owed under it. If the Company wishes
to appoint a third party to develop or commercialize a sapacitabine-based product in Japan, within certain limitations, Daiichi Sankyo must be notified and
given a right of first refusal, with the right of first refusal ending sixty days after notification, to develop and/or commercialize in Japan. In general, the
license may be terminated by the Company for technical, scientific, efficacy, safety, or commercial reasons on six months’ notice, or twelve months’ notice, if
after a launch of a sapacitabine-based product, or by either party for material default.

8. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

As of June 30, 2017, there were 335,273 shares of the Company’s 6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock (“Preferred Stock”) issued and
outstanding at an issue price of $10.00 per share. Dividends on the Preferred Stock are cumulative from the date of original issuance at the annual rate of 6%
of the liquidation preference of the Preferred Stock, payable quarterly on the first day of February, May, August and November, commencing February 1,
2005. Any dividends must be declared by the Company’s Board and must come from funds that are legally available for dividend payments. The Preferred
Stock has a liquidation preference of $10.00 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends.

The Company may automatically convert the Preferred Stock into common stock if the closing price of the Company’s common stock has exceeded
$2,961, which is 150% of the conversion price of the Preferred Stock, for at least 20 trading days during any 30-day trading period, ending within five trading
days prior to notice of automatic conversion.

The Preferred Stock has no maturity date and no voting rights prior to conversion into common stock, except under limited circumstances.

The Company may, at its option, redeem the Preferred Stock in whole or in part, out of funds legally available at the redemption price of $10.00 per
share.

The Preferred Stock is exchangeable, in whole but not in part, at the option of the Company on any dividend payment date beginning on
November 1, 2005 (the “Exchange Date”) for the Company’s 6% Convertible Subordinated Debentures (“Debentures™) at the rate of $10.00 principal amount
of Debentures for each share of Preferred Stock. The Debentures, if issued, will mature 25 years after the Exchange Date and have terms substantially similar
to those of the Preferred Stock. No such exchanges have taken place to date.

12
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On May 30, 2017, the Board declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.15 per share on the Company’s 6% Convertible Exchangeable
Preferred Stock (“Preferred Stock™). The cash dividend was paid on August 1, 2017 to the holders of record of the Preferred Stock as of the close of business
on July 14, 2017.

Common Stock
June 2016 At Market Issuance

On June 23, 2016, the Company entered into a sales agreement with FBR (the “FBR Sales Agreement”), under which the Company may issue and
sell shares of its common stock, from time to time through FBR, acting as its sales agent. Under the FBR Sales Agreement, FBR may sell the shares of
common stock by any method that is deemed to be an “at the market offering”. The Company will pay FBR a commission of 3.0% of the gross sales price per
share sold. The Company is not obligated to make any sales of common stock under the FBR Sales Agreement. In the six months ended June 30, 2017, the
Company sold 183,118 shares of common stock under the sales agreement for net proceeds of approximately $1.1 million. This now concludes the
Company’s existing sales agreement with FBR.

9. Subsequent Events

On July 19, 2017, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc., acting as the representative of the
several underwriters named therein, relating to the issuance and sale of (i) 3,154,000 Class A Units, each consisting of one share of the Company’s common
stock, and a warrant to purchase one share of common stock, and (ii) 8,872 Class B Units, each consisting of one share of the Company’s Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock™) convertible into 500 shares of common stock at the initial conversion
price, and a warrant to purchase a number of shares of common stock equal to $1,000.00 divided by the conversion price. The price to the public in the
offering was $2.00 per Class A Unit and $1,000.00 per Class B Unit. The closing of the offering occurred on July 21, 2017, and the net proceeds to the
Company were approximately $13,800,000 after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other estimated offering expenses, and including the
full exercise of the underwriters’ option for a period of 45 days to purchase up to 990,000 additional shares of common stock and/or warrants to purchase up
to 990,000 shares of common stock solely to cover any over-allotments.

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder thereof, into a number of shares of common stock
determined by dividing $1,000 by the initial conversion price of $2.00 per share, subject to a 4.99% blocker provision, or, upon election by a holder prior to
the issuance of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 9.99%. The Series A Preferred Stock will have the same dividend rights as the common stock, and no
voting rights except as provided for in the Certificate of Designation or as otherwise required by law. In the event of any liquidation or dissolution of the
Company, the Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the common stock in the distribution of assets, to the extent legally available for distribution.

Subsequent to the closing of the offering, holders of 7,613 (86%) shares of the Series A Preferred Stock elected to convert their shares into 3,806,500
shares of common stock. Following such conversions, 11,400,447 shares of common stock and 1,259 (14%) shares of Series A Preferred Stock remain
outstanding as of August 8, 2017.

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including, without limitation, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We intend that the forward-looking statements be covered by the safe harbor for
forward-looking statements in the Exchange Act. The forward-looking information is based on various factors and was derived using numerous assumptions.
All statements, other than statements of historical fact, that address activities, events or developments that we intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate
will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements. Such statements are based upon certain assumptions and assessments made by our
management in light of their experience and their perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors they
believe to be appropriate. These forward-looking statements are usually accompanied by words such as “believe,” “anticipate, seek,” “expect,”
“intend” and similar expressions.

» o«

plan,

» «
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Forward-looking statements necessarily involve risks and uncertainties, and our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the
forward looking statements due to a number of factors, including those set forth in Part I, Item 1A, entitled “Risk Factors,” of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, as updated and supplemented by Part II, Item 1A, entitled “Risk Factors,” of our Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, and elsewhere in this report. These factors as well as other cautionary statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, should be read
and understood as being applicable to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear herein. The forward-looking statements contained in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q represent our judgment as of the date hereof. We encourage you to read those descriptions carefully. We caution you not to
place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements contained in this report. These statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of the date
of this report (unless an earlier date is indicated) and we undertake no obligation to update or revise the statements except as required by law. Such forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results will likely differ, perhaps materially, from those suggested by such forward-
looking statements. In this report, “Cyclacel,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Overview

Through the second quarter of 2017, our focus has been on our transcriptional regulation program where we are evaluating our cyclin dependent
kinase, or CDK, inhibitor and our DNA damage response, or DDR, program, in which we are evaluating sapacitabine in combination with our CDK inhibitor
seliciclib in solid tumors in a Phase1/2 study. Additionally, we are completing the analysis of data from SEAMLESS, the Phase 3 study in acute myeloid
leukemia, (“AML”) and have closed the last remaining clinical trial sites.

Transcriptional Regulation Program, CDK inhibitors

We are progressing clinical development of our CDK inhibitor CYCO65 in an ongoing, first-in-human, Phase 1 trial in patients with advanced solid
tumors.

CDK:s are a family of enzymes first discovered as regulators of the cell cycle, but now understood to also provide pivotal functions in the regulation
of transcription, DNA repair and metastatic spread. The precise selectivity of an individual CDK inhibitor molecule for specific CDKs is key to targeting
particular tumor types and minimizing undesirable side effects through non-specific antiproliferative activity.

In general, cell cycle regulation is less well controlled in cancer cells than in normal cells, which explains in part why cancer cells divide
uncontrollably. Different CDKs are responsible for control of different aspects of proliferation, and when dysregulated, can be drivers of particular cancer
sub-sets. Modulating CDK activity with targeted therapies is an attractive strategy to reinforce cell cycle control and decrease the rate of abnormal
proliferation of cancer cells. The first Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval in March 2015 of a CDK inhibitor for palbociclib, and more recently
in 2017, ribociclib, for a type of breast cancer, has led to great interest in the development of this class of drugs as oncology therapeutics.

Cyclacel’s founding scientist, Professor Sir David Lane, is a globally recognized authority in cell cycle biology, who discovered p53, a key tumor
suppressor gene that malfunctions in about two-thirds of human cancers. Under his guidance, Cyclacel’s drug discovery and development programs
concentrated on the CDK2/9 isoforms, which operate as key components of the p53 pathway. These efforts resulted in bringing two molecules into clinical
trials: seliciclib, our first-generation CDK inhibitor, and CYCO065, our second-generation CDK inhibitor, which has benefited from the Company’s clinical
experience with seliciclib.

CYCO065 is being evaluated in an on-going Phase 1 first-in-human clinical trial. The objective of Part 1 of the clinical trial was to assess the safety
and recommended dosing for Phase 2 (RP2D) of CYCO065 in advanced cancer patients, based on determination of the biologically effective dose through
measurement of CYCO065's effects on the Mcl-1 biomarker. Part 1 is now complete and the RP2D has been selected, Part 2 of the study will focus on patients
with advanced solid tumors with amplification of cyclin E (CCNE). The trial is being conducted at the Dana Farber Cancer Institute in Boston.

Seliciclib, is being evaluated in an all-oral Phase 1/2 combination study with our sapacitabine in patients with BRCA mutations, and has been
evaluated to date in approximately 450 patients.

Similar to the approved CDK inhibitors, palbociclib and ribociclib, CYCO065 may be most useful in combination with other anticancer agents, but as

a therapy for patients with both liquid and solid tumors, using combinations including Bcl-2 antagonists, such as venetoclax, or HER2 inhibitors, such as
trastuzumab.
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DNA Damage Response, or DDR, Program

In our DNA damage response program we are evaluating sapacitabine in combination with our first-generation CDK inhibitor seliciclib in solid
tumors.

Many cancers have defects in the way in which cells monitor and repair damaged DNA, collectively termed DNA damage response, or DDR. These
deficiencies in DDR pathways render cells more susceptible to DNA damage. Many traditional cancer treatments, such as DNA-damaging chemotherapy and
radiotherapy, are based on this finding. However, such treatments are often accompanied by significant and unwanted side effects. Developing treatments
which target specific DDR deficiencies to preferentially kill cancer cells, while minimizing the impact on normal cells, has potential for more selective, better
tolerated therapies, to improve survival in multiple cancers.

We have focused on developing treatments targeting DNA damage pathways for several years. For example, drug candidate sapacitabine is an oral
nucleoside analogue prodrug whose metabolite, CNDAC, generates single-strand DNA breaks, or SSB, either leading to arrest of the cell cycle at G2 phase or
development of double-strand DNA breaks, or DSB. Repair of CNDAC-induced DSB is dependent on the homologous recombination, or HR repair pathway.
BRCA mutations in cancer cells are a cause of HR deficiency, making such cancer cells susceptible to cell death induced by sapacitabine.

We are evaluating sapacitabine in a Phase 1/2 combination study with seliciclib in patients with BRCA mutations.

In addition to these development programs, we are completing the analysis of data from SEAMLESS, the Phase 3 study in AML, in the elderly, in an
alternating schedule with decitabine and closing the last remaining clinical trial sites.

Cyclacel currently retains virtually all marketing rights worldwide to the compounds associated with the Company’s drug programs.

Subsequent Events

On July 19, 2017, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement with Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc., acting as the representative of the
several underwriters named therein, relating to the issuance and sale of (i) 3,154,000 Class A Units, each consisting of one share of the Company’s common
stock, and a warrant to purchase one share of common stock, and (ii) 8,872 Class B Units, each consisting of one share of the Company’s Series A Preferred
Stock, convertible into 500 shares of common stock at the initial conversion price, and a warrant to purchase a number of shares of common stock equal to
$1,000.00 divided by the conversion price. The price to the public in the offering was $2.00 per Class A Unit and $1,000.00 per Class B Unit. The closing of
the offering occurred on July 21, 2017, and the net proceeds to the Company were approximately $13,800,000 after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and other estimated offering expenses, and including the full exercise of the underwriters’ option for a period of 45 days to purchase up to
990,000 additional shares of common stock and/or warrants to purchase up to 990,000 shares of common stock solely to cover any over-allotments.

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder thereof, into a number of shares of common stock
determined by dividing $1,000 by the initial conversion price of $2.00 per share, subject to a 4.99% blocker provision, or, upon election by a holder prior to
the issuance of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 9.99%. The Series A Preferred Stock will have the same dividend rights as the common stock, and no
voting rights except as provided for in the Certificate of Designation or as otherwise required by law. In the event of any liquidation or dissolution of the
Company, the Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the common stock in the distribution of assets, to the extent legally available for distribution.

Subsequent to the closing of the offering, holders of 7,613 (86%) shares of the Series A Preferred Stock elected to convert their shares into 3,806,500
shares of common stock. Following such conversions, 11,400,447 shares of common stock and 1,259 (14%) shares of Series A Preferred Stock remain
outstanding as of August 8, 2017.

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2017

Revenues

The following table summarizes the components of our revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000s, except percentages):

Three Months
Ended June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Grant revenue $ 222 $ - $ (222) (100)

15




Table of Contents
We recognized $0.2 million and $0 in grant revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively, from the European Union and
the Biomedical Catalyst of the United Kingdom government.
The future

We will not recognize further grant revenue for the CYC140 program, as the grant from the Biomedical Catalyst of the United Kingdom government
ended in November 2016. Although we may apply for additional grants in 2017, we are not certain of our ability to obtain grant revenue in 2017.

Research and development expenses
From our inception, we have focused on drug discovery and development programs, with a particular emphasis on orally-available anticancer agents,

and our research and development expenses have represented costs incurred to discover and develop novel small molecule therapeutics, including clinical trial
costs for our CDK inhibitors, sapacitabine and sapacitabine in combination with seliciclib. We have also incurred costs in the advancement of product
candidates toward clinical and pre-clinical trials and the development of in-house research to advance our biomarker program and technology platforms. We
expense all research and development costs as they are incurred. Research and development expenses primarily include:

Clinical trial and regulatory-related costs;

Payroll and personnel-related expenses, including consultants and contract research;

Preclinical studies and laboratory supplies and materials;

Technology license costs; and

Rent and facility expenses for our laboratories.

The following table provides information with respect to our research and development expenditures for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and
2017 (in $000s except percentages):

Three Months
Ended June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Sapacitabine $ 1,855 $ 769 (1,086) (59)
Other costs related to research and development programs, management
and exploratory research 782 453 (329) (42)
Total research and development expenses $ 2,637 $ 1,222 (1,415) (54)

Total research and development expenses represented 66% and 49% of our operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017,
respectively.

Research and development expenditures decreased by $1.4 million from $2.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016 to $1.2 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2017. Research and development expenses relating to sapacitabine decreased by $1.1 million from $1.9 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2016 to $0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017, primarily as a result of a reduction in expenditures associated with the
SEAMLESS Phase 3 trial as clinical sites are closed.

The future
We anticipate that overall research and development expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2017 will decrease compared to the year ended

December 31, 2016, as we close the remaining clinical study sites for SEAMLESS. The timing and extent of any future SEAMLESS expenditures, including
the possibility of registration submissions to regulatory authorities in Europe and the U.S., are dependent upon final clinical data.

16




Table of Contents

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses include costs for administrative personnel, legal and other professional expenses and general corporate
expenses. The following table summarizes the general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000s except
percentages):

Three Months Ended
June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Total general and administrative expenses $ 1,345 $ 1,267 (78) (6)

Total general and administration expenses represented 34% and 51% of our operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017,
respectively. General and administrative expenses remained relatively flat at $1.4 million and $1.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and
2017.

The future

We expect general and administrative expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to our expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2016 to remain relatively flat.

Other income (expense), net

The following table summarizes other income (expense) for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000 except percentages):

Three Months Ended
June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Foreign exchange gains $ 138 $ 16 (122) (88)
Interest income 13 18 5 38
Other income, net 18 - (18) (100)
Total other income $ 169 $ 34 (135) (80)

Foreign exchange gains

Foreign exchange gains decreased by approximately $0.1 million, from a gain of $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, to a loss of
$16,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2017.

The future

Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2017 will continue to be impacted by changes in foreign exchange rates and the receipt
of income under the Asset Purchase Agreement, or APA, with Life Technologies Corporation, or LTC, (formerly Invitrogen Corporation), in respect of certain
assets and intellectual property owned by Xcyte Therapies, Inc., or Xcyte, and sold to LTC in December 2005. The assets and technology were not part of our
product development plan following the transaction between Xcyte and Cyclacel in March 2006. As we are not in control of sales made by LTC we are
unable to estimate the level and timing of income under the APA, if any.

Because the nature of funding advanced through intercompany loans is that of a long-term investment in nature, unrealized foreign exchange gains
and losses on such funding will be recognized in other comprehensive income until repayment of the intercompany loan becomes foreseeable.
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Income tax benefit

Credit is taken for research and development tax credits, which are claimed from the United Kingdom’s revenue and customs authority, or HMRC, in
respect of qualifying research and development costs incurred.

The following table summarizes total income tax benefit for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000s except percentages):

Three Months Ended
June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Total income tax benefit $ 626 $ 268 (358) (57)

The total income tax benefit, which is comprised of research and development tax credits recoverable, decreased by $0.4 million from an income tax
benefit of $0.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016 to an income tax benefit of $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017. The level
of tax credits recoverable is linked directly to qualifying research and development expenditure incurred in any one year.

The future

We expect to continue to be eligible to receive United Kingdom research and development tax credits for the foreseeable future and will elect to do
so. The amount of tax credits we will receive is entirely dependent on the amount of eligible expenses we incur. We expect our qualifying research and
development expenditure to decrease for the year ended December 31, 2017 in comparison to the year ended December 31, 2016.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2017
Results of Continuing Operations

Revenues

The following table summarizes the components of our revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000s, except percentages):

Six Months
Ended June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Grant revenue $ 361 $ - (361) (100)

We recognized $0.4 million and $0 in grant revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively, from the European Union and
the Biomedical Catalyst of the United Kingdom government.

The future

We will not recognize further grant revenue for the CYC140 program, as the grant from the Biomedical Catalyst of the United Kingdom government
ended in November 2016. Although we may apply for additional grants in 2017, we are not certain of our ability to obtain grant revenue in 2017.

Research and development expenses
From our inception, we have focused on drug discovery and development programs, with a particular emphasis on orally-available anticancer agents,
and our research and development expenses have represented costs incurred to discover and develop novel small molecule therapeutics, including clinical trial
costs for our CDK inhibitors, sapacitabine and sapacitabine in combination with seliciclib. We have also incurred costs in the advancement of product
candidates toward clinical and pre-clinical trials and the development of in-house research to advance our biomarker program and technology platforms. We

expense all research and development costs as they are incurred. Research and development expenses primarily include:

Clinical trial and regulatory-related costs;
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Payroll and personnel-related expenses, including consultants and contract research;
Preclinical studies and laboratory supplies and materials;

Technology license costs; and

Rent and facility expenses for our laboratories.

The following table provides information with respect to our research and development expenditures for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and
2017 (in $000s except percentages):

Six Months
Ended June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Sapacitabine $ 3691 $ 1,729 (1,962) (53)
Other costs related to research and development programs, management
and exploratory research 1,445 805 (640) (44)
Total research and development expenses $ 5136 $ 2,534 (2,602) (51)

Total research and development expenses represented 65% and 49% of our operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017,
respectively.

Research and development expenditures decreased by $2.6 million from $5.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 to $2.5 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2017. Research and development expenses relating to sapacitabine decreased by $2.0 million from $3.7 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2016 to $1.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017, primarily as a result of a reduction in expenditures associated with the
SEAMLESS Phase 3 trial as clinical sites are closed.

The future

We anticipate that overall research and development expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2017 will decrease compared to the year ended
December 31, 2016, as we close the remaining clinical study sites for SEAMLESS. The timing and extent of any future SEAMLESS expenditures, including
the possibility of registration submissions to regulatory authorities in Europe and the U.S., are dependent upon final clinical data.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses include costs for administrative personnel, legal and other professional expenses and general corporate
expenses. The following table summarizes the general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000s except
percentages):

Six Months Ended
June 30, Difference

2016 2017 $ %
Total general and administrative expenses $ 2,729 $ 2,648 (81) (3)

Total general and administration expenses represented 35% and 51% of our operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017,
respectively. General and administrative expenses remained flat at $2.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017.

The future

We expect general and administrative expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to our expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2016 to remain relatively flat.
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Other income (expense), net

The following table summarizes other income (expense) for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000 except percentages):

Six Months Ended
June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Foreign exchange gains / (losses) $ 318 $ (43) (361) (114)
Interest income 23 30 7 30
Other income, net 38 879 841 2,213
Total other income $ 379 $ 866 487 128

Total other income increased by approximately $0.5 million, from $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 to $0.9 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2017. The increase in other income is primarily related to income received under the APA with LTC, in respect of certain assets and
intellectual property owned by Xcyte, and sold to LTC in December 2005. The assets and technology were not part of our product development plan
following the transaction between Xcyte and Cyclacel in March 2006. We have no knowledge of LTC’s activities and cannot predict when we may receive
income under the APA, if any.

Foreign exchange gains

Foreign exchange gains decreased by approximately $0.4 million, from a gain of $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, to a loss of
$43,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2017.

The future

Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2017 will continue to be impacted by changes in foreign exchange rates and the receipt
of income under the APA. As we are not in control of sales made by LTC we are unable to estimate the level and timing of income under the APA, if any.

Because the nature of funding advanced through intercompany loans is that of a long-term investment in nature, unrealized foreign exchange gains
and losses on such funding will be recognized in other comprehensive income until repayment of the intercompany loan becomes foreseeable.

Income tax benefit

Credit is taken for research and development tax credits, which are claimed from the United Kingdom’s revenue and customs authority, or HMRC, in
respect of qualifying research and development costs incurred.

The following table summarizes total income tax benefit for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in $000s except percentages):

Six Months Ended
June 30, Difference
2016 2017 $ %
Total income tax benefit $ 1,119 $ 574 (545) (49)

The total income tax benefit, which comprised of research and development tax credits recoverable, decreased by $0.5 million from an income tax
benefit of $1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 to an income tax benefit of $0.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017. The level of
tax credits recoverable is linked directly to qualifying research and development expenditure incurred in any one year.

The future
We expect to continue to be eligible to receive United Kingdom research and development tax credits for the foreseeable future and will elect to do

so. The amount of tax credits we will receive is entirely dependent on the amount of eligible expenses we incur. We expect our qualifying research and
development expenditure to decrease for the year ended December 31, 2017 in comparison to the year ended December 31, 2016.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following is a summary of our key liquidity measures as of June 30, 2016 and 2017 (in thousands):

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016 2017

Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,931 $ 13,591
Working capital:

Current assets 18,768 16,051

Current liabilities (5,565) (4,319)
Total working capital $ 13,203 $ 11,732

Since our inception, we have relied primarily on the proceeds from sales of common and preferred equity securities to finance our operations and
internal growth. Additional funding has come through research and development tax credits, government grants, the sale of product rights, interest on
investments, licensing revenue, and a limited amount of product revenue from operations discontinued in September 2012. We have incurred significant
losses since our inception. As of June 30, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $338.8 million.

Cash Flows

Cash used in operating, investing and financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Six months ended

June 30,
2016 2017
Net cash used in operating activities $ (4,183) $ (4,011)
Net cash used in investing activities — )
Net cash provided by financing activities 54 962

Operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $ 0.2 million, from $4.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 to $ 4.0 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2017. The decrease in cash used by operating activities was primarily the result of a reduction in net loss of $2.3 million offset by a
change in working capital of $1.7 million and stock compensation of $0.4.
Investing activities
Net used by investing activities increased by $2,000 as a result of capital expenditure on IT equipment.
Financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $1.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017, primarily as a result of approximately $1.1 million in

net proceeds from the issuance of common stock under At Market Issuance Sales Agreement with FBR entered into in June 2016 offset by dividend payments
of approximately $0.1 million to the holders of our Preferred Stock. Net cash used in financing activities was $0.1 million for the six months ended June 30,

2016, primarily as a result of approximately $0.2 million in net proceeds from a Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co
entered into in July 2015 offset by dividend payments of approximately $0.1 million to the holders of our Preferred Stock.
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Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirements

We expect to continue to incur substantial operating losses in the future and cannot guarantee that we will generate any significant product revenues
until a product candidate has been approved by the FDA or European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) in other countries and successfully commercialized.

We believe that existing funds together with cash generated from operations, such as the R&D tax credit, and recent financing activities, are sufficient
to satisfy our planned working capital, capital expenditures and other financial commitments through 2019. However, we do not currently have sufficient
funds to complete development and commercialization of any of our drug candidates. Current business and capital market risks could have a detrimental
effect on the availability of sources of funding and our ability to access them in the future, which may delay or impede our progress of advancing our drugs
currently in the clinical pipeline to approval by the FDA or EMA for commercialization. Additionally, we plan to continue to evaluate in-licensing and
acquisition opportunities to gain access to new drugs or drug targets that would fit with our strategy. Any such transaction would likely increase our funding
needs in the future.

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including but not limited to:

»  the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other discovery and research and development activities;
»  the costs associated with establishing manufacturing and commercialization capabilities;

» the costs of acquiring or investing in businesses, product candidates and technologies;

»  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

»  the costs and timing of seeking and obtaining FDA and EMA approvals;

» the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

*  the economic and other terms and timing of any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter.

Until we can generate a sufficient amount of product revenue to finance our cash requirements, which we may never do, we expect to finance future
cash needs primarily through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or strategic collaborations. Although we are not reliant on institutional credit
finance and therefore not subject to debt covenant compliance requirements or potential withdrawal of credit by banks, we are reliant on the availability of
funds and activity in equity markets. We do not know whether additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are not able to secure
additional funding when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our clinical trials or research and development
programs or make changes to our operating plan. In addition, we may have to partner one or more of our product candidate programs at an earlier stage of
development, which would lower the economic value of those programs to us.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information in response to this item.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and principal financial and accounting
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness, as of June 30, 2017, of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Based upon such evaluation, our chief executive officer and
principal financial and accounting officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2017, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that the information we are required to disclose in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, under the
Exchange Act (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and

communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2017 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitation on the Effectiveness of Internal Controls
The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise
of judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely.
Accordingly, any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable,
not absolute, assurances. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to
monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary or appropriate for our business, but cannot assure you that such improvements will be sufficient to
provide us with effective internal control over financial reporting.
PART II. Other Information
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
None.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes to our risk factors contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. For a
further discussion of our Risk Factors, refer to Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2016.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
Item 6. Exhibits

10.1 Amended and Restated 2015 Equity Incentive Plan

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101 The following materials from Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2017,

formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii) the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned.

CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Date: August 10, 2017 By: /s/ Paul McBarron
Paul McBarron
Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President, Finance
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Exhibit 10.1
CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
Effective May 22, 2015
Revised May 30, 2017
DEFINITIONS.

Unless otherwise specified or unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms, as used in this Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2015 Equity
Incentive Plan, have the following meanings:

Administrator means the Board of Directors, unless it has delegated power to act on its behalf to the Committee, in which case the Administrator means
the Committee.

Affiliate means a corporation which, for purposes of Section 424 of the Code, is a parent or subsidiary of the Company, direct or indirect.

Agreement means an agreement between the Company and a Participant pertaining to a Stock Right delivered pursuant to the Plan in such form as the
Administrator shall approve.

Board of Directors means the Board of Directors of the Company.

Cause means, with respect to a Participant (a) dishonesty with respect to the Company or any Affiliate, (b) insubordination, substantial malfeasance or
non-feasance of duty, (c) unauthorized disclosure of confidential information, (d) breach by a Participant of any provision of any employment,
consulting, advisory, nondisclosure, non-competition or similar agreement between the Participant and the Company or any Affiliate, and (e) conduct
substantially prejudicial to the business of the Company or any Affiliate; provided, however, that any provision in an agreement between a Participant
and the Company or an Affiliate, which contains a conflicting definition of Cause for termination and which is in effect at the time of such termination,
shall supersede this definition with respect to that Participant. The determination of the Administrator as to the existence of Cause will be conclusive on
the Participant and the Company.

Change of Control means the occurrence of any of the following events: (a) any person, partnership, joint venture, corporation or other entity, or two or
more of any of the foregoing acting as a group (or any “person” within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than the
Company, an Affiliate, or an employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or an Affiliate, become(s) the “beneficial owner” (as defined in
Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of 30% or more of the then-outstanding voting stock of the Company; (b) during any period of two consecutive
years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board of Directors (together with any new director whose election by the Board of
Directors or whose nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders, was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in
office who either were directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any
reason to constitute a majority of the directors then in office; (c) all or substantially all of the business of the Company is disposed of pursuant to a
merger, consolidation or other transaction in which the Company is not the surviving corporation or the Company combines with another company and is
the surviving corporation (unless the stockholders of the Company immediately following such merger, consolidation, combination, or other transaction
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the aggregate voting stock or other ownership interests of (x) the entity or entities, if any, that
succeed to the business of the Company or (y) the combined company); (d) the Company is a party to a merger, consolidation, sale of assets or other
reorganization, or a proxy contest, as a consequence of which the Board of Directors in office immediately prior to such transaction or event constitutes
less than a majority of the Board of Directors thereafter; or (e) the stockholders of the Company approve a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of
the Company or a liquidation or dissolution of the Company; provided, that if any payment or benefit payable hereunder upon or following a Change of
Control would be required to comply with the limitations of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) of the Code in order to avoid an additional tax under Section 409A
of the Code, such payment or benefit shall be made only if such Change in Control constitutes a change in ownership or control of the Company, or a
change in ownership of the Company’s assets in accordance with Section 409A of the Code.




Code means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended including any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto.

Committee means the committee of the Board of Directors to which the Board of Directors has delegated power to act under or pursuant to the provisions
of the Plan the composition of which shall at all times satisfy the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code.

Common Stock means shares of the Company’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share.

Company means Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

Consultant means any natural person who is an advisor or consultant that provides bona fide services to the Company or its Affiliates, provided that such
services are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital raising transaction, and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a
market for the Company’s or its Affiliates’ securities.

Disability or Disabled means permanent and total disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.

Employee means any employee of the Company or of an Affiliate (including, without limitation, an employee who is also serving as an officer or director
of the Company or of an Affiliate), designated by the Administrator to be eligible to be granted one or more Stock Rights under the Plan.

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Fair Market Value of a Share of Common Stock means:

(1) If the Common Stock is listed on a national securities exchange or traded in the over-the-counter market and sales prices are regularly reported
for the Common Stock, the closing or, if not applicable, the last price of the Common Stock on the composite tape or other comparable reporting system
for the trading day on the applicable date and if such applicable date is not a trading day, the last market trading day prior to such date;

(2) If the Common Stock is not traded on a national securities exchange but is traded on the over-the-counter market, if sales prices are not
regularly reported for the Common Stock for the trading day referred to in clause (1), and if bid and asked prices for the Common Stock are regularly
reported, the mean between the bid and the asked price for the Common Stock at the close of trading in the over-the-counter market for the trading day
on which Common Stock was traded on the applicable date and if such applicable date is not a trading day, the last market trading day prior to such date;
and

(3) If the Common Stock is neither listed on a national securities exchange nor traded in the over-the-counter market, such value as the
Administrator, in good faith, shall determine in compliance with applicable laws.

ISO means an option intended to qualify as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code.
Non-Qualified Option means an option which is not intended to qualify as an ISO.

Option means an ISO or Non-Qualified Option granted under the Plan.

Participant means an Employee, director or Consultant of the Company or an Affiliate to whom one or more Stock Rights are granted under the Plan. As
used herein, “Participant” shall include “Participant’s Survivors” where the context requires.




Performance Based Award means a Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award which vests based on the attainment of written Performance Goals as set forth in
Paragraph 9 hereof.

Performance Goals means performance goals based on one or more of the following criteria: (i) pre-tax income or after-tax income; (ii) income or
earnings including operating income, earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation, amortization, and/or extraordinary or special items; (iii) net
income excluding amortization of intangible assets, depreciation and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets and/or excluding charges attributable
to the adoption of new accounting pronouncements; (iv) earnings or book value per share (basic or diluted); (v) return on assets (gross or net), return on
investment, return on capital, return on invested capital or return on equity; (vi) return on revenues; (vii) cash flow, free cash flow, cash flow return on
investment (discounted or otherwise), net cash provided by operations, or cash flow in excess of cost of capital; (viii) economic value created; (ix)
operating margin or profit margin; (x) stock price or total shareholder return; (xi) income or earnings from continuing operations; (xii) cost targets,
reductions and savings, expense management, productivity and efficiencies; (xiii) operational objectives, consisting of one or more objectives based on
achieving progress in research and development programs or achieving regulatory milestones related to development and or approval of products; and
(xiv) strategic business criteria, consisting of one or more objectives based on meeting specified market penetration or market share of one or more
products or customers, geographic business expansion, customer satisfaction, employee satisfaction, human resources management, supervision of
litigation, information technology, and goals relating to acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures and similar transactions. Where applicable, the
Performance Goals may be expressed in terms of a relative measure against a set of identified peer group companies, attaining a specified level of the
particular criterion or the attainment of a percentage increase or decrease in the particular criterion, and may be applied to one or more of the Company or
an Affiliate of the Company, or a division or strategic business unit of the Company, all as determined by the Committee. The Performance Goals may
include a threshold level of performance below which no Performance-Based Award will be issued or no vesting will occur, levels of performance at
which Performance-Based Awards will be issued or specified vesting will occur, and a maximum level of performance above which no additional
issuances will be made or at which full vesting will occur. Each of the foregoing Performance Goals shall be evaluated in an objectively determinable
manner in accordance with Section 162(m) of the Code and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles where applicable, unless
otherwise specified by the Committee, and shall be subject to certification by the Committee. The Committee shall have the authority to make equitable
adjustments to the Performance Goals in recognition of unusual or non-recurring events affecting the Company or any Affiliate or the financial
statements of the Company or any Affiliate, in response to changes in applicable laws or regulations, or to account for items of gain, loss or expense
determined to be extraordinary or unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence or related to the disposal of a segment of a business or related to a change
in accounting principles provided that any such change shall at all times satisfy the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code.

Plan means this Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Shares means shares of the Common Stock as to which Stock Rights have been or may be granted under the Plan or any shares of capital stock into
which the Shares are changed or for which they are exchanged within the provisions of Paragraph 3 of the Plan. The Shares issued under the Plan may be
authorized and unissued shares or shares held by the Company in its treasury, or both.

Stock-Based Award means a grant by the Company under the Plan of an equity award or an equity based award which is not an Option or a Stock Grant,
which the Committee may, in its sole discretion, structure to qualify in whole or in part as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of

the Code.

Stock Grant means a grant by the Company of Shares under the Plan, which the Committee may, in its sole discretion, structure to qualify in whole or in
part as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code.




Stock Right means a right to Shares or the value of Shares of the Company granted pursuant to the Plan—an ISO, a Non-Qualified Option, a Stock Grant
or a Stock-Based Award.

Survivor means a deceased Participant’s legal representatives and/or any person or persons who acquired the Participant’s rights to a Stock Right by will
or by the laws of descent and distribution.

2. PURPOSES OF THE PLAN.

The Plan is intended to encourage ownership of Shares by Employees and directors of and certain Consultants to the Company and its Affiliates in order
to attract and retain such people, to induce them to work for the benefit of the Company or of an Affiliate and to provide additional incentive for them to
promote the success of the Company or of an Affiliate. The Plan provides for the granting of ISOs, Non-Qualified Options, Stock Grants and Stock-Based
Awards.

3. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN.

(a) The number of Shares which may be issued from time to time pursuant to this Plan shall be the sum of: (i) [891,666] shares of Common Stock and
(ii) any shares of Common Stock that are represented by awards granted under the Company’s Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan that are
forfeited, expire or are cancelled without delivery of shares of Common Stock or which result in the forfeiture of shares of Common Stock back to the
Company on or after May 22, 2015, or the equivalent of such number of Shares after the Administrator, in its sole discretion, has interpreted the effect of any
stock split, stock dividend, combination, recapitalization or similar transaction in accordance with Paragraph 25 of this Plan; provided, however, that no more
than [102,662] Shares shall be added to the Plan pursuant to subsection (ii).

(b) If an Option ceases to be “outstanding”, in whole or in part (other than by exercise), or if the Company shall reacquire (at not more than its original
issuance price) any Shares issued pursuant to a Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award, or if any Stock Right expires or is forfeited, cancelled, or otherwise
terminated or results in any Shares not being issued, the unissued or reacquired Shares which were subject to such Stock Right shall again be available for
issuance from time to time pursuant to this Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Stock Right is exercised, in whole or in part, by tender of Shares or if the
Company or an Affiliate’s tax withholding obligation is satisfied by withholding Shares, the number of Shares deemed to have been issued under the Plan for
purposes of the limitation set forth in Paragraph 3(a) above shall be the number of Shares that were subject to the Stock Right or portion thereof, and not the
net number of Shares actually issued. However, in the case of ISOs, the foregoing provisions shall be subject to any limitations under the Code.

4. ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN.

The Administrator of the Plan will be the Board of Directors, except to the extent the Board of Directors delegates its authority to the Committee, in
which case the Committee shall be the Administrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board of Directors may not take any action that would cause any
outstanding Stock Right that would otherwise qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code to fail to so qualify. Subject to

the provisions of the Plan, the Administrator is authorized to:

(a) Interpret the provisions of the Plan and all Stock Rights and to make all rules and determinations which it deems necessary or advisable for the
administration of the Plan;

(b) Determine which Employees, directors and Consultants shall be granted Stock Rights;

(c) Determine the number of Shares for which a Stock Right or Stock Rights shall be granted, provided, however, that in no event shall Stock Rights
with respect to more than [62,500] Shares be granted to any Participant in any fiscal year;

(d) Specify the terms and conditions upon which a Stock Right or Stock Rights may be granted;




(e) Determine Performance Goals no later than such time as required to ensure that a Performance-Based Award which is intended to comply with the
requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code so complies;

(f) Amend any term or condition of any outstanding Stock Right, other than reducing the exercise price or purchase price, provided that (i) such term or
condition as amended is not prohibited by the Plan; (ii) any such amendment shall not impair the rights of a Participant under any Stock Right previously
granted without such Participant’s consent or in the event of death of the Participant the Participant’s Survivors; and (iii) any such amendment shall be made
only after the Administrator determines whether such amendment would cause any adverse tax consequences to the Participant, including, but not limited to,
the annual vesting limitation contained in Section 422(d) of the Code and described in Paragraph 6(b)(iv) below with respect to ISOs and pursuant to Section
409A of the Code;

(g) Make any adjustments in the Performance Goals included in any Performance-Based Awards provided that such adjustments comply with the
requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code; and

(h) Adopt any sub-plans applicable to residents of any specified jurisdiction as it deems necessary or appropriate in order to comply with or take
advantage of any tax or other laws applicable to the Company, any Affiliate or to Participants or to otherwise facilitate the administration of the Plan, which
sub-plans may include additional restrictions or conditions applicable to Stock Rights or Shares issuable pursuant to a Stock Right;

provided, however, that all such interpretations, rules, determinations, terms and conditions shall be made and prescribed in the context of not causing any
adverse tax consequences under Section 409A of the Code and preserving the tax status under Section 422 of the Code of those Options which are designated
as ISOs and in accordance with Section 162(m) of the Code for all other Stock Rights to which the Committee has determined Section 162(m) is applicable.
Subject to the foregoing, the interpretation and construction by the Administrator of any provisions of the Plan or of any Stock Right granted under it shall be
final, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, if the Administrator is the Committee. In addition, if the Administrator is the Committee, the
Board of Directors may take any action under the Plan that would otherwise be the responsibility of the Committee.

To the extent permitted under applicable law, the Board of Directors or the Committee may allocate all or any portion of its responsibilities and powers to
any one or more of its members and may delegate all or any portion of its responsibilities and powers to any other person selected by it. The Board of
Directors or the Committee may revoke any such allocation or delegation at any time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, only the Board of Directors or the
Committee shall be authorized to grant a Stock Right to any director of the Company or to any “officer” of the Company as defined by Rule 16a-1 under the
Exchange Act.

5. ELIGIBILITY FOR PARTICIPATION.

The Administrator will, in its sole discretion, name the Participants in the Plan; provided, however, that each Participant must be an Employee, director
or Consultant of the Company or of an Affiliate at the time a Stock Right is granted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator may authorize the
grant of a Stock Right to a person not then an Employee, director or Consultant of the Company or of an Affiliate; provided, however, that the actual grant of
such Stock Right shall be conditioned upon such person becoming eligible to become a Participant at or prior to the time of the execution of the Agreement
evidencing such Stock Right. ISOs may be granted only to Employees who are deemed to be residents of the United States for tax purposes. Non-Qualified
Options, Stock Grants and Stock-Based Awards may be granted to any Employee, director or Consultant of the Company or an Affiliate. The granting of any
Stock Right to any individual shall neither entitle that individual to, nor disqualify him or her from, participation in any other grant of Stock Rights or any
grant under any other benefit plan established by the Company or any Affiliate for Employees, directors or Consultants.

6. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS.

Each Option shall be set forth in writing in an Option Agreement, duly executed by the Company and, to the extent required by law or requested by the
Company, by the Participant. The Administrator may provide that Options be granted subject to such terms and conditions, consistent with the terms and
conditions specifically required under this Plan, as the Administrator may deem appropriate including, without limitation, subsequent approval by the
shareholders of the Company of this Plan or any amendments thereto. The Option Agreements shall be subject to at least the following terms and conditions:




(a) Non-Qualified Options: Each Option intended to be a Non-Qualified Option shall be subject to the terms and conditions which the Administrator
determines to be appropriate and in the best interest of the Company, subject to the following minimum standards for any such Non-Qualified Option:

(i) Exercise Price: Each Option Agreement shall state the exercise price (per share) of the Shares covered by each Option, which exercise price
shall be determined by the Administrator and shall be at least equal to the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the date of grant of
the Option.

(i) Number of Shares: Each Option Agreement shall state the number of Shares to which it pertains.

(iii) Vesting: Each Option Agreement shall state the date or dates on which it first is exercisable and the date after which it may no longer be
exercised, and may provide that the Option rights accrue or become exercisable in installments over a period of months or years, or upon the
occurrence of certain performance conditions or the attainment of stated goals or events.

(iv) Additional Conditions: Exercise of any Option may be conditioned upon the Participant’s execution of a Share purchase agreement in form
satisfactory to the Administrator providing for certain protections for the Company and its other shareholders, including requirements that:

A. The Participant’s or the Participant’s Survivors’ right to sell or transfer the Shares may be restricted; and

B. The Participant or the Participant’s Survivors may be required to execute letters of investment intent and must also acknowledge that the
Shares will bear legends noting any applicable restrictions.

(v) Term of Option: Each Option shall terminate not more than ten years from the date of the grant or at such earlier time as the Option Agreement
may provide.

(b) ISOs: Each Option intended to be an ISO shall be issued only to an Employee who is deemed to be a resident of the United States for tax purposes,
and shall be subject to the following terms and conditions, with such additional restrictions or changes as the Administrator determines are appropriate but not
in conflict with Section 422 of the Code and relevant regulations and rulings of the Internal Revenue Service:

(i) Minimum standards: The ISO shall meet the minimum standards required of Non-Qualified Options, as described in Paragraph 6(a) above,
except clause (i) and (v) thereunder.

(ii) Exercise Price: Immediately before the ISO is granted, if the Participant owns, directly or by reason of the applicable attribution rules in
Section 424(d) of the Code:

A. 10% or less of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or an Affiliate, the exercise price per share of the
Shares covered by each ISO shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock on the date of grant of the
Option; or

B. More than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or an Affiliate, the exercise price per share of the
Shares covered by each ISO shall not be less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock on the date of grant of the
Option.




(iii) Term of Option: For Participants who own:

A. 10% or less of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or an Affiliate, each ISO shall terminate not more
than ten years from the date of the grant or at such earlier time as the Option Agreement may provide; or

B. More than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or an Affiliate, each ISO shall terminate not more
than five years from the date of the grant or at such earlier time as the Option Agreement may provide.

(iv) Limitation on Yearly Exercise: The Option Agreements shall restrict the amount of ISOs which may become exercisable in any calendar year
(under this or any other ISO plan of the Company or an Affiliate) so that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined on the date each ISO is
granted) of the stock with respect to which ISOs are exercisable for the first time by the Participant in any calendar year does not exceed
$100,000.

7. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK GRANTS.

Each Stock Grant to a Participant shall state the principal terms in an Agreement duly executed by the Company and, to the extent required by law or
requested by the Company, by the Participant. The Agreement shall be in a form approved by the Administrator and shall contain terms and conditions which
the Administrator determines to be appropriate and in the best interest of the Company, subject to the following minimum standards:

(i) Each Agreement shall state the purchase price per share, if any, of the Shares covered by each Stock Grant, which purchase price shall be
determined by the Administrator but shall not be less than the minimum consideration required by the Delaware General Corporation Law, if
any, on the date of the grant of the Stock Grant;

(ii) Each Agreement shall state the number of Shares to which the Stock Grant pertains; and

(iii) Each Agreement shall include the terms of any right of the Company to restrict or reacquire the Shares subject to the Stock Grant, including the
time period or attainment of Performance Goals or such other performance criteria upon which such rights shall accrue and the purchase price
therefor, if any.

8. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS.

The Administrator shall have the right to grant other Stock-Based Awards based upon the Common Stock having such terms and conditions as the
Administrator may determine, including, without limitation, the grant of Shares based upon certain conditions, the grant of securities convertible into Shares
and the grant of stock appreciation rights, phantom stock awards or stock units. The principal terms of each Stock-Based Award shall be set forth in an
Agreement, duly executed by the Company and, to the extent required by law or requested by the Company, by the Participant. The Agreement shall be in a
form approved by the Administrator and shall contain terms and conditions which the Administrator determines to be appropriate and in the best interest of
the Company. Each Agreement shall include the terms of any right of the Company including the right to terminate the Stock-Based Award without the
issuance of Shares, the terms of any vesting conditions, Performance Goals or events upon which Shares shall be issued. Under no circumstances may the
Agreement covering stock appreciation rights (a) have an exercise price (per share) that is less than the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on the
date of grant or (b) expire more than ten years following the date of grant.

The Company intends that the Plan and any Stock-Based Awards granted hereunder be exempt from the application of Section 409A of the Code or meet
the requirements of paragraphs (2), (3) and (4) of subsection (a) of Section 409A of the Code, to the extent applicable, and be operated in accordance with
Section 409A so that any compensation deferred under any Stock-Based Award (and applicable investment earnings) shall not be included in income under
Section 409A of the Code. Any ambiguities in the Plan shall be construed to effect the intent as described in this Paragraph 8.




9. PERFORMANCE BASED AWARDS.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, during any period when Section 162(m) of the Code is applicable to the Company and the Plan, Stock
Rights granted under Paragraph 7 and Paragraph 8 may be granted by the Committee in a manner which is deductible by the Company under Section 162(m)
of the Code (“Performance-Based Awards”). A Participant’s Performance-Based Award shall be determined based on the attainment of written Performance
Goals, which must be objective and approved by the Committee for a performance period of between one and five years established by the Committee (I)
while the outcome for that performance period is substantially uncertain and (IT) no more than 90 days after the commencement of the performance period to
which the Performance Goal relates or, if less, the number of days which is equal to 25% of the relevant performance period. The Committee shall determine
whether, with respect to a performance period, the applicable Performance Goals have been met with respect to a given Participant and, if they have, to so
certify and ascertain the amount of the applicable Performance-Based Award. No Performance-Based Awards will be issued for such performance period until
such certification is made by the Committee. The number of shares issued in respect of a Performance-Based Award to a given Participant may be less than
the amount determined by the applicable Performance Goal formula, at the discretion of the Committee. The number of shares issued in respect of a
Performance-Based Award determined by the Committee for a performance period shall be paid to the Participant at such time as determined by the
Committee in its sole discretion after the end of such performance period. Nothing in this Section shall prohibit the Company from granting Stock-Based
Awards subject to performance criteria that do not comply with this Paragraph.

10. EXERCISE OF OPTIONS AND ISSUE OF SHARES.

An Option (or any part or installment thereof) shall be exercised by giving written notice to the Company or its designee (in a form acceptable to the
Administrator, which may include electronic notice), together with provision for payment of the aggregate exercise price in accordance with this Paragraph
for the Shares as to which the Option is being exercised, and upon compliance with any other condition(s) set forth in the Option Agreement. Such notice
shall be signed by the person exercising the Option (which signature may be provided electronically in a form acceptable to the Administrator), shall state the
number of Shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised and shall contain any representation required by the Plan or the Option Agreement.
Payment of the exercise price for the Shares as to which such Option is being exercised shall be made (a) in United States dollars in cash or by check; or (b) at
the discretion of the Administrator, through delivery of shares of Common Stock held for at least six months (if required to avoid negative accounting
treatment) having a Fair Market Value equal as of the date of the exercise to the aggregate cash exercise price for the number of Shares as to which the Option
is being exercised; or (c) at the discretion of the Administrator, by having the Company retain from the Shares otherwise issuable upon exercise of the Option,
a number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal as of the date of exercise to the aggregate exercise price for the number of Shares as to which the
Option is being exercised; or (d) at the discretion of the Administrator, in accordance with a cashless exercise program established with a securities brokerage
firm, and approved by the Administrator; or (e) at the discretion of the Administrator, by any combination of (a), (b), (c) and (d) above or (f) at the discretion
of the Administrator, by payment of such other lawful consideration as the Administrator may determine. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator
shall accept only such payment on exercise of an ISO as is permitted by Section 422 of the Code.

The Company shall then reasonably promptly deliver the Shares as to which such Option was exercised to the Participant (or to the Participant’s
Survivors, as the case may be). In determining what constitutes “reasonably promptly,” it is expressly understood that the issuance and delivery of the Shares
may be delayed by the Company in order to comply with any law or regulation (including, without limitation, state securities or “blue sky” laws) which
requires the Company to take any action with respect to the Shares prior to their issuance. The Shares shall, upon delivery, be fully paid, non-assessable
Shares.




11. PAYMENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF STOCK GRANTS AND STOCK-BASED AWARDS AND ISSUE OF SHARES.

Any Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award requiring payment of a purchase price for the Shares as to which such Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award is
being granted shall be made (a) in United States dollars in cash or by check; or (b) at the discretion of the Administrator, through delivery of shares of
Common Stock held for at least six months (if required to avoid negative accounting treatment) and having a Fair Market Value equal as of the date of
payment to the purchase price of the Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award; or (c) at the discretion of the Administrator, by any combination of (a) and (b)
above; or (d) at the discretion of the Administrator, by payment of such other lawful consideration as the Administrator may determine.

The Company shall when required by the applicable Agreement, reasonably promptly deliver the Shares as to which such Stock Grant or Stock-Based
Award was made to the Participant (or to the Participant’s Survivors, as the case may be), subject to any escrow provision set forth in the applicable
Agreement. In determining what constitutes “reasonably promptly,” it is expressly understood that the issuance and delivery of the Shares may be delayed by
the Company in order to comply with any law or regulation (including, without limitation, state securities or “blue sky” laws) which requires the Company to
take any action with respect to the Shares prior to their issuance.

12. RIGHTS AS A SHAREHOLDER.

No Participant to whom a Stock Right has been granted shall have rights as a shareholder with respect to any Shares covered by such Stock Right except
after due exercise of an Option or issuance of Shares as set forth in any Agreement, tender of the aggregate exercise or purchase price, if any, for the Shares
being purchased and registration of the Shares in the Company’s share register in the name of the Participant.

13. ASSIGNABILITY AND TRANSFERABILITY OF STOCK RIGHTS.

By its terms, a Stock Right granted to a Participant shall not be transferable by the Participant other than (i) by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution, or (ii) as approved by the Administrator in its discretion and set forth in the applicable Agreement provided that no Stock Right may be
transferred by a Participant for value. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an ISO transferred except in compliance with clause (i) above shall no longer qualify as
an ISO. The designation of a beneficiary of a Stock Right by a Participant, with the prior approval of the Administrator and in such form as the Administrator
shall prescribe, shall not be deemed a transfer prohibited by this Paragraph. Except as provided above during the Participant’s lifetime a Stock Right shall
only be exercisable by or issued to such Participant (or his or her legal representative) and shall not be assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether
by operation of law or otherwise) and shall not be subject to execution, attachment or similar process. Any attempted transfer, assignment, pledge,
hypothecation or other disposition of any Stock Right or of any rights granted thereunder contrary to the provisions of this Plan, or the levy of any attachment
or similar process upon a Stock Right, shall be null and void.

14. EFFECT ON OPTIONS OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE OTHER THAN FOR CAUSE OR DEATH OR DISABILITY.

Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Option Agreement, in the event of a termination of service (whether as an Employee, director or
Consultant) with the Company or an Affiliate before the Participant has exercised an Option, the following rules apply:

(i) A Participant who ceases to be an Employee, director or Consultant of the Company or of an Affiliate (for any reason other than termination for
Cause, Disability, or death for which events there are special rules in Paragraphs 15, 16, and 17, respectively), may exercise any Option granted to
him or her to the extent that the Option is exercisable on the date of such termination of service, but only within such term as the Administrator has
designated in a Participant’s Option Agreement.

(ii) Except as provided in Subparagraph (iii) below, or Paragraph 16 or 17, in no event may an Option intended to be an ISO, be exercised later than
three months after the Participant’s termination of employment.

(iii) The provisions of this Paragraph, and not the provisions of Paragraph 16 or 17, shall apply to a Participant who subsequently becomes Disabled or
dies after the termination of employment, director status or consultancy; provided, however, in the case of a Participant’s Disability or death within
three months after the termination of employment, director status or consultancy, the Participant or the Participant’s Survivors may exercise the
Option within one year after the date of the Participant’s termination of service, but in no event after the date of expiration of the term of the Option.




(iv) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if subsequent to a Participant’s termination of employment, termination of director status or
termination of consultancy, but prior to the exercise of an Option, the Administrator determines that, either prior or subsequent to the Participant’s
termination, the Participant engaged in conduct which would constitute Cause, then such Participant shall forthwith cease to have any right to
exercise any Option.

(v) A Participant to whom an Option has been granted under the Plan who is absent from the Company or an Affiliate because of temporary disability
(any disability other than a Disability as defined in Paragraph 1 hereof), or who is on leave of absence for any purpose, shall not, during the period of
any such absence, be deemed, by virtue of such absence alone, to have terminated such Participant’s employment, director status or consultancy with
the Company or with an Affiliate, except as the Administrator may otherwise expressly provide; provided, however, that, for ISOs, any leave of
absence granted by the Administrator of greater than ninety days, unless pursuant to a contract or statute that guarantees the right to reemployment,
shall cause such ISO to become a Non-Qualified Option on the 181st day following such leave of absence.

(vi) Except as required by law or as set forth in a Participant’s Option Agreement, Options granted under the Plan shall not be affected by any change of
a Participant’s status within or among the Company and any Affiliates, so long as the Participant continues to be an Employee, director or Consultant
of the Company or any Affiliate.

15. EFFECT ON OPTIONS OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE FOR CAUSE.

Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Option Agreement, the following rules apply if the Participant’s service (whether as an Employee,
director or Consultant) with the Company or an Affiliate is terminated for Cause prior to the time that all his or her outstanding Options have been exercised:

(i) All outstanding and unexercised Options as of the time the Participant is notified his or her service is terminated for Cause will immediately be
forfeited.

(ii) Cause is not limited to events which have occurred prior to a Participant’s termination of service, nor is it necessary that the Administrator’s finding
of Cause occur prior to termination. If the Administrator determines, subsequent to a Participant’s termination of service but prior to the exercise of
an Option, that either prior or subsequent to the Participant’s termination the Participant engaged in conduct which would constitute Cause, then the
right to exercise any Option is forfeited.

16. EFFECT ON OPTIONS OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE FOR DISABILITY.
Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Option Agreement:

(i) A Participant who ceases to be an Employee, director or Consultant of the Company or of an Affiliate by reason of Disability may exercise any
Option granted to such Participant to the extent that the Option has become exercisable but has not been exercised on the date of the Participant’s
termination of service due to Disability;

(i) In the event rights to exercise the Option accrue periodically, to the extent of a pro rata portion through the date of the Participant’s termination of
service due to Disability of any additional vesting rights that would have accrued on the next vesting date had the Participant not become Disabled.
The proration shall be based upon the number of days accrued in the current vesting period prior to the date of the Participant’s termination of
service due to Disability;

(iii) A Disabled Participant may exercise the Option only within the period ending one year after the date of the Participant’s termination of service due
to Disability, notwithstanding that the Participant might have been able to exercise the Option as to some or all of the Shares on a later date if the
Participant had not been terminated due to Disability and had continued to be an Employee, director or Consultant or, if earlier, within the originally
prescribed term of the Option; and
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(iv) The Administrator shall make the determination both of whether Disability has occurred and the date of its occurrence (unless a procedure for such
determination is set forth in another agreement between the Company and such Participant, in which case such procedure shall be used for such
determination). If requested, the Participant shall be examined by a physician selected or approved by the Administrator, the cost of which
examination shall be paid for by the Company.

17. EFFECT ON OPTIONS OF DEATH WHILE AN EMPLOYEE, DIRECTOR OR CONSULTANT.
Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Option Agreement:

(i) In the event of the death of a Participant while the Participant is an Employee, director or Consultant of the Company or of an Affiliate, such Option
may be exercised by the Participant’s Survivors to the extent that the Option has become exercisable but has not been exercised on the date of death;

(ii) In the event rights to exercise the Option accrue periodically, to the extent of a pro rata portion through the date of death of any additional vesting
rights that would have accrued on the next vesting date had the Participant not died. The proration shall be based upon the number of days accrued in
the current vesting period prior to the Participant’s date of death; and

(iii) If the Participant’s Survivors wish to exercise the Option, they must take all necessary steps to exercise the Option within one year after the date of
death of such Participant, notwithstanding that the decedent might have been able to exercise the Option as to some or all of the Shares on a later
date if he or she had not died and had continued to be an Employee, director or Consultant or, if earlier, within the originally prescribed term of the
Option.

18. EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE ON STOCK GRANTS AND STOCK-BASED AWARDS.

In the event of a termination of service (whether as an Employee, director or Consultant) with the Company or an Affiliate for any reason before the
Participant has accepted a Stock Grant or a Stock-Based Award and paid the purchase price, if required, such grant shall terminate.

For purposes of this Paragraph 18 and Paragraph 19 below, a Participant to whom a Stock Grant or a Stock-Based Award has been issued under the Plan
who is absent from work with the Company or with an Affiliate because of temporary disability (any disability other than a Disability as defined in Paragraph
1 hereof), or who is on leave of absence for any purpose, shall not, during the period of any such absence, be deemed, by virtue of such absence alone, to have
terminated such Participant’s employment, director status or consultancy with the Company or with an Affiliate, except as the Administrator may otherwise
expressly provide.

In addition, for purposes of this Paragraph 18 and Paragraph 19 below, any change of employment or other service within or among the Company and
any Affiliates shall not be treated as a termination of employment, director status or consultancy so long as the Participant continues to be an Employee,
director or Consultant of the Company or any Affiliate.

19. EFFECT ON STOCK GRANTS AND STOCK-BASED AWARDS OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE OTHER THAN FOR CAUSE, DEATH
OR DISABILITY.

Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Agreement, in the event of a termination of service for any reason (whether as an Employee, director or
Consultant), other than termination for Cause, death or Disability for which there are special rules in Paragraphs 20, 21, and 22 below, before all forfeiture
provisions or Company rights of repurchase shall have lapsed, then the Company shall have the right to cancel or repurchase that number of Shares subject to
a Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award as to which the Company’s forfeiture or repurchase rights have not lapsed.
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20. EFFECT ON STOCK GRANTS AND STOCK-BASED AWARDS OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE FOR CAUSE.

Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Agreement, the following rules apply if the Participant’s service (whether as an Employee, director or
Consultant) with the Company or an Affiliate is terminated for Cause:

(i) All Shares subject to any Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award that remain subject to forfeiture provisions or as to which the Company shall have a
repurchase right shall be immediately forfeited to the Company as of the time the Participant is notified his or her service is terminated for Cause.

(ii) Cause is not limited to events which have occurred prior to a Participant’s termination of service, nor is it necessary that the Administrator’s finding
of Cause occur prior to termination. If the Administrator determines, subsequent to a Participant’s termination of service, that either prior or
subsequent to the Participant’s termination the Participant engaged in conduct which would constitute Cause, then all Shares subject to any Stock
Grant or Stock-Based Award that remained subject to forfeiture provisions or as to which the Company had a repurchase right on the date of
termination shall be immediately forfeited to the Company.

21. EFFECT ON STOCK GRANTS AND STOCK-BASED AWARDS OF TERMINATION OF SERVICE FOR DISABILITY.

Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Agreement, the following rules apply if a Participant ceases to be an Employee, director or Consultant of
the Company or of an Affiliate by reason of Disability: to the extent the forfeiture provisions or the Company’s rights of repurchase have not lapsed on the
date of Disability, they shall be exercisable; provided, however, that in the event such forfeiture provisions or rights of repurchase lapse periodically, such
provisions or rights shall lapse to the extent of a pro rata portion of the Shares subject to such Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award through the date of
Disability as would have lapsed had the Participant not become Disabled. The proration shall be based upon the number of days accrued prior to the date of
Disability.

The Administrator shall make the determination both as to whether Disability has occurred and the date of its occurrence (unless a procedure for such
determination is set forth in another agreement between the Company and such Participant, in which case such procedure shall be used for such
determination). If requested, the Participant shall be examined by a physician selected or approved by the Administrator, the cost of which examination shall
be paid for by the Company.

22. EFFECT ON STOCK GRANTS AND STOCK-BASED AWARDS OF DEATH WHILE AN EMPLOYEE, DIRECTOR OR CONSULTANT.

Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Agreement, the following rules apply in the event of the death of a Participant while the Participant is an
Employee, director or Consultant of the Company or of an Affiliate: to the extent the forfeiture provisions or the Company’s rights of repurchase have not
lapsed on the date of death, they shall be exercisable; provided, however, that in the event such forfeiture provisions or rights of repurchase lapse periodically,
such provisions or rights shall lapse to the extent of a pro rata portion of the Shares subject to such Stock Grant or Stock-Based Award through the date of
death as would have lapsed had the Participant not died. The proration shall be based upon the number of days accrued prior to the Participant’s date of death.

23. PURCHASE FOR INVESTMENT.

Unless the offering and sale of the Shares shall have been effectively registered under the Securities Act, the Company shall be under no obligation to
issue Shares under the Plan unless and until the following conditions have been fulfilled:

(i) The person who receives a Stock Right shall warrant to the Company, prior to the receipt of Shares, that such person is acquiring such Shares for his
or her own account, for investment, and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, the distribution of any such Shares, in which event the
person acquiring such Shares shall be bound by the provisions of the following legend (or a legend in substantially similar form) which shall be
endorsed upon the certificate evidencing the Shares issued pursuant to such exercise or such grant:
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“The shares represented by this certificate have been taken for investment and they may not be sold or otherwise transferred by any person,
including a pledgee, unless (1) either (a) a Registration Statement with respect to such shares shall be effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or (b) the Company shall have received an opinion of counsel satisfactory to it that an exemption from registration under such Act is then
available, and (2) there shall have been compliance with all applicable state securities laws.”

(ii) At the discretion of the Administrator, the Company shall have received an opinion of its counsel that the Shares may be issued in compliance with
the Securities Act without registration thereunder.

24. DISSOLUTION OR LIQUIDATION OF THE COMPANY.

Upon the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, all Options granted under this Plan which as of such date shall not have been exercised and all Stock
Grants and Stock-Based Awards which have not been accepted, to the extent required under the applicable Agreement, will terminate and become null and
void; provided, however, that if the rights of a Participant or a Participant’s Survivors have not otherwise terminated and expired, the Participant or the
Participant’s Survivors will have the right immediately prior to such dissolution or liquidation to exercise or accept any Stock Right to the extent that the
Stock Right is exercisable or subject to acceptance as of the date immediately prior to such dissolution or liquidation. Upon the dissolution or liquidation of
the Company, any outstanding Stock-Based Awards shall immediately terminate unless otherwise determined by the Administrator or specifically provided in
the applicable Agreement.

25. ADJUSTMENTS.

Upon the occurrence of any of the following events, a Participant’s rights with respect to any Stock Right granted to him or her hereunder shall be
adjusted as hereinafter provided, unless otherwise specifically provided in a Participant’s Agreement.

(a) Stock Dividends and Stock Splits. If (i) the shares of Common Stock shall be subdivided or combined into a greater or smaller number of shares or
if the Company shall issue any shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend on its outstanding Common Stock, or (ii) additional shares or new or different
shares or other securities of the Company or other non-cash assets are distributed with respect to such shares of Common Stock, each Stock Right and the
number of shares of Common Stock deliverable thereunder shall be appropriately increased or decreased proportionately, and appropriate adjustments shall be
made including, in the exercise or purchase price per share, to reflect such events. The number of Shares subject to the limitations in Paragraph 3(a) and
4(c)shall also be proportionately adjusted upon the occurrence of such events and the Performance Goals applicable to outstanding Performance-Based
Awards.

(b) Corporate Transactions. If the Company is to be consolidated with or acquired by another entity in a merger, consolidation, or sale of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets other than a transaction to merely change the state of incorporation (a “Corporate Transaction”), the Administrator or
the board of directors of any entity assuming the obligations of the Company hereunder (the “Successor Board”), shall, as to outstanding Options, either (i)
make appropriate provision for the continuation of such Options by substituting on an equitable basis for the Shares then subject to such Options either the
consideration payable with respect to the outstanding shares of Common Stock in connection with the Corporate Transaction or securities of any successor or
acquiring entity; or (ii) upon written notice to the Participants, provide that such Options must be exercised (either (A) to the extent then exercisable or, (B) at
the discretion of the Administrator, any such Options being made partially or fully exercisable for purposes of this Subparagraph), within a specified number
of days of the date of such notice, at the end of which period such Options which have not been exercised shall terminate; or (iii) terminate such Options in
exchange for payment of an amount equal to the consideration payable upon consummation of such Corporate Transaction to a holder of the number of shares
of Common Stock into which such Option would have been exercisable (either (A) to the extent then exercisable or, (B) at the discretion of the Administrator,
any such Options being made partially or fully exercisable for purposes of this Subparagraph) less the aggregate exercise price thereof. For purposes of
determining the payments to be made pursuant to Subclause (iii) above, in the case of a Corporate Transaction the consideration for which, in whole or in
part, is other than cash, the consideration other than cash shall be valued at the fair value thereof as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors.
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With respect to outstanding Stock Grants, the Administrator or the Successor Board, shall make appropriate provision for the continuation of such Stock
Grants on the same terms and conditions by substituting on an equitable basis for the Shares then subject to such Stock Grants either the consideration
payable with respect to the outstanding Shares of Common Stock in connection with the Corporate Transaction or securities of any successor or acquiring
entity. In lieu of the foregoing, in connection with any Corporate Transaction, the Administrator may provide that, upon consummation of the Corporate
Transaction, each outstanding Stock Grant shall be terminated in exchange for payment of an amount equal to the consideration payable upon consummation
of such Corporate Transaction to a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock comprising such Stock Grant (to the extent such Stock Grant is no
longer subject to any forfeiture or repurchase rights then in effect or, at the discretion of the Administrator, all forfeiture and repurchase rights being waived
upon such Corporate Transaction).

In taking any of the actions permitted under this Paragraph 25(b), the Administrator shall not be obligated by the Plan to treat all Stock Rights, all Stock
Rights held by a Participant, or all Stock Rights of the same type, identically.

(c) Recapitalization or Reorganization. In the event of a recapitalization or reorganization of the Company other than a Corporate Transaction pursuant
to which securities of the Company or of another corporation are issued with respect to the outstanding shares of Common Stock, a Participant upon
exercising an Option or accepting a Stock Grant after the recapitalization or reorganization shall be entitled to receive for the price paid upon such exercise or
acceptance if any, the number of replacement securities which would have been received if such Option had been exercised or Stock Grant accepted prior to
such recapitalization or reorganization.

(d) Adjustments to Stock-Based Awards. Upon the happening of any of the events described in Subparagraphs (a), (b) or (c) above, any outstanding
Stock-Based Award shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect the events described in such Subparagraphs. The Administrator or the Successor Board shall
determine the specific adjustments to be made under this Paragraph 25, including, but not limited to the effect of any, Corporate Transaction and, subject to
Paragraph 4, its determination shall be conclusive.

(e) Modification of Options. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any adjustments made pursuant to Subparagraph (a), (b) or (c) above with respect to
Options shall be made only after the Administrator determines whether such adjustments would (i) constitute a “modification” of any ISOs (as that term is
defined in Section 424(h) of the Code) or (ii) cause any adverse tax consequences for the holders of Options, including, but not limited to, pursuant to Section
409A of the Code. If the Administrator determines that such adjustments made with respect to Options would constitute a modification or other adverse tax
consequence, it may refrain from making such adjustments, unless the holder of an Option specifically agrees in writing that such adjustment be made and
such writing indicates that the holder has full knowledge of the consequences of such “modification” on his or her income tax treatment with respect to the
Option. This paragraph shall not apply to the acceleration of the vesting of any ISO that would cause any portion of the ISO to violate the annual vesting
limitation contained in Section 422(d) of the Code, as described in Paragraph 6(b)(iv).

(f) Madification of Performance-Based Awards. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to any Performance-Based Award that is intended to
comply as “performance based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee may adjust downwards, but not upwards, the number of
Shares payable pursuant to a Performance-Based Award, and the Committee may not waive the achievement of the applicable Performance Goals except in
the case of death or disability of the Participant.
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(g) Change of Control. In the event that the successor corporation refuses to assume or substitute the Stock Right as set forth in this Paragraph 25, the
Participant shall fully vest and become exercisable or earned, if applicable, in each outstanding Stock Right as to which it would not otherwise be vested,
exercisable or earned. If a Stock Right becomes fully vested and exercisable or earned, as applicable in lieu of assumption or substitution in the event of a
Corporate Transaction or Change of Control, the Administrator shall notify each Participant in writing or electronically that (i) the Stock Right shall be fully
vested and exercisable for a period determined by the Administrator, and all outstanding Stock Rights shall terminate upon the expiration of such period and
(i) any Stock Rights to which shares or other payment shall be due shall be paid out immediately prior to the Corporate Transaction or Change of Control as
if fully vested or earned. For the purposes of this paragraph, the Stock Right shall be considered assumed if, following the Corporate Transaction or Change
of Control, the assumed Stock Right confers the right to purchase or receive, for each Share subject to a Stock Right immediately prior to the Corporate
Transaction or Change of Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash, or other securities or property) received in the Corporate Transaction or Change of
Control by holders of Common Stock for each share of Common Stock they hold on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders are offered a choice of
consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock); provided, however, that if such
consideration received in the Corporate Transaction or Change of Control is not solely common stock of the successor corporation or its parent, the
Administrator may, with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration to be received upon the exercise (or payout or vesting, as
applicable) of the Stock Right, for each Share subject to the Stock Right, to be solely common stock of the successor corporation or its parent equal in Fair
Market Value to the per share consideration received by holders of Common Stock in the Corporate Transaction or Change of Control.

26. ISSUANCES OF SECURITIES.

Except as expressly provided herein, no issuance by the Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any
class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of shares subject to Stock Rights. Except as
expressly provided herein, no adjustments shall be made for dividends paid in cash or in property (including without limitation, securities) of the Company
prior to any issuance of Shares pursuant to a Stock Right.

27. FRACTIONAL SHARES.

No fractional shares shall be issued under the Plan and the person exercising a Stock Right shall receive from the Company cash in lieu of such fractional
shares equal to the Fair Market Value thereof.

28. CONVERSION OF ISOs INTO NON-QUALIFIED OPTIONS; TERMINATION OF ISOs.

The Administrator, at the written request of any Participant, may in its discretion take such actions as may be necessary to convert such Participant’s
ISOs (or any portions thereof) that have not been exercised on the date of conversion into Non-Qualified Options at any time prior to the expiration of such
ISOs, regardless of whether the Participant is an Employee of the Company or an Affiliate at the time of such conversion. At the time of such conversion, the
Administrator (with the consent of the Participant) may impose such conditions on the exercise of the resulting Non-Qualified Options as the Administrator in
its discretion may determine, provided that such conditions shall not be inconsistent with this Plan. Nothing in the Plan shall be deemed to give any
Participant the right to have such Participant’s ISOs converted into Non-Qualified Options, and no such conversion shall occur until and unless the
Administrator takes appropriate action. The Administrator, with the consent of the Participant, may also terminate any portion of any ISO that has not been
exercised at the time of such conversion.

29. WITHHOLDING.

In the event that any federal, state, or local income taxes, employment taxes, Federal Insurance Contributions Act (“F.I.C.A.”) withholdings or other
amounts are required by applicable law or governmental regulation to be withheld from the Participant’s salary, wages or other remuneration in connection
with the issuance of a Stock Right or Shares under the Plan or for any other reason required by law, the Company may withhold from the Participant’s
compensation, if any, or may require that the Participant advance in cash to the Company, or to any Affiliate of the Company which employs or employed the
Participant, the statutory minimum amount of such withholdings unless a different withholding arrangement, including the use of shares of the Company’s
Common Stock or a promissory note, is authorized by the Administrator (and permitted by law). For purposes hereof, the fair market value of the shares
withheld for purposes of payroll withholding shall be determined in the manner set forth under the definition of Fair Market Value provided in Paragraph 1
above, as of the most recent practicable date prior to the date of exercise. If the Fair Market Value of the shares withheld is less than the amount of payroll
withholdings required, the Participant may be required to advance the difference in cash to the Company or the Affiliate employer. The Administrator in its
discretion may condition the exercise of an Option for less than the then Fair Market Value on the Participant’s payment of such additional withholding.
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30. NOTICE TO COMPANY OF DISQUALIFYING DISPOSITION.

Each Employee who receives an ISO must agree to notify the Company in writing immediately after the Employee makes a Disqualifying Disposition of
any Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an ISO. A Disqualifying Disposition is defined in Section 424(c) of the Code and includes any disposition
(including any sale or gift) of such Shares before the later of (a) two years after the date the Employee was granted the ISO, or (b) one year after the date the
Employee acquired Shares by exercising the ISO, except as otherwise provided in Section 424(c) of the Code. If the Employee has died before such Shares
are sold, these holding period requirements do not apply and no Disqualifying Disposition can occur thereafter.

31. TERMINATION OF THE PLAN.

The Plan will terminate on May 22, 2025, the date which is ten years from the earlier of the date of its adoption by the Board of Directors and the date of
its approval by the shareholders of the Company. The Plan may be terminated at an earlier date by vote of the shareholders or the Board of Directors of the
Company; provided, however, that any such earlier termination shall not affect any Agreements executed prior to the effective date of such termination.
Termination of the Plan shall not affect any Stock Rights theretofore granted.

32. AMENDMENT OF THE PLAN AND AGREEMENTS.

The Plan may be amended by the shareholders of the Company. The Plan may also be amended by the Administrator, including, without limitation, to the
extent necessary to qualify any or all outstanding Stock Rights granted under the Plan or Stock Rights to be granted under the Plan for favorable federal
income tax treatment as may be afforded incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Code (including deferral of taxation upon exercise), and to the
extent necessary to qualify the Shares issuable under the Plan for listing on any national securities exchange or quotation in any national automated quotation
system of securities dealers and in order to continue to comply with Section 162(m) of the Code; provided that any amendment approved by the
Administrator which the Administrator determines is of a scope that requires shareholder approval shall be subject to obtaining such shareholder approval.
Other than as set forth in Paragraph 25 of the Plan, the Administrator may not without shareholder approval reduce the exercise price of an Option or cancel
any outstanding Option in exchange for a replacement option having a lower exercise price, any Stock Grant, any other Stock-Based Award or for cash. In
addition, the Administrator not take any other action that is considered a direct or indirect “repricing” for purposes of the shareholder approval rules of the
applicable securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the Shares are listed, including any other action that is treated as a repricing under
generally accepted accounting principles. Any modification or amendment of the Plan shall not, without the consent of a Participant, adversely affect his or
her rights under a Stock Right previously granted to him or her. With the consent of the Participant affected, the Administrator may amend outstanding
Agreements in a manner which may be adverse to the Participant but which is not inconsistent with the Plan. In the discretion of the Administrator,
outstanding Agreements may be amended by the Administrator in a manner which is not adverse to the Participant. Nothing in this Paragraph 32 shall limit
the Administrator’s authority to take any action permitted pursuant to Paragraph 25.

33. EMPLOYMENT OR OTHER RELATIONSHIP.
Nothing in this Plan or any Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Company or an Affiliate from terminating the employment, consultancy or director

status of a Participant, nor to prevent a Participant from terminating his or her own employment, consultancy or director status or to give any Participant a
right to be retained in employment or other service by the Company or any Affiliate for any period of time.
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34. SECTION 409A.

If a Participant is a “specified employee” as defined in Section 409A of the Code (and as applied according to procedures of the Company and its
Affiliates) as of his separation from service, to the extent any payment under this Plan or pursuant to the grant of a Stock-Based Award constitutes deferred
compensation (after taking into account any applicable exemptions from Section 409A of the Code), and to the extent required by Section 409A of the Code,
no payments due under this Plan or pursuant to a Stock-Based Award may be made until the earlier of: (i) the first day of the seventh month following the
Participant’s separation from service, or (ii) the Participant’s date of death; provided, however, that any payments delayed during this six-month period shall
be paid in the aggregate in a lump sum, without interest, on the first day of the seventh month following the Participant’s separation from service.

The Administrator shall administer the Plan with a view toward ensuring that Stock Rights under the Plan that are subject to Section 409A of the Code
comply with the requirements thereof and that Options under the Plan be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, but neither the
Administrator nor any member of the Board, nor the Company nor any of its Affiliates, nor any other person acting hereunder on behalf of the Company, the
Administrator or the Board shall be liable to a Participant or any Survivor by reason of the acceleration of any income, or the imposition of any additional tax
or penalty, with respect to a Stock Right, whether by reason of a failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code or otherwise.

35. INDEMNITY.

Neither the Board nor the Administrator, nor any members of either, nor any employees of the Company or any parent, subsidiary, or other Affiliate, shall
be liable for any act, omission, interpretation, construction or determination made in good faith in connection with their responsibilities with respect to this
Plan, and the Company hereby agrees to indemnify the members of the Board, the members of the Committee, and the employees of the Company and its
parent or subsidiaries in respect of any claim, loss, damage, or expense (including reasonable counsel fees) arising from any such act, omission, interpretation,
construction or determination to the full extent permitted by law.

36. GOVERNING LAW.

This Plan shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the law of the State of Delaware.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Spiro Rombotis, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2017 of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

<)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting: and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2017

/s/ Spiro Rombotis

Spiro Rombotis
President & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Paul McBarron, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2017 of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

<)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2017

/s/ Paul McBarron

Paul McBarron

Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and Executive Vice President, Finance
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. s 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (
the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

(i) the Quarterly Report on Form10-Q of the Company for the three months ended June 30, 2017 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: August 10, 2017 /s/ Spiro Rombotis

Spiro Rombotis
President & Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. s 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (
the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

(i) the Quarterly Report on Form10-Q of the Company for the three months ended June 30, 2017 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 10, 2017 /s/ Paul McBarron
Paul McBarron
Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and Executive Vice President, Finance




